IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JEFFREY JACKSON

APPELLANT

FILED

V.

FEB 0 6 2008

NO. 2007-KA-1782-COA

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

giral Jack

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS Justin T Cook, MS Bar No. 102622 301 North Lamar Street, Suite 210 Jackson, Mississippi 39201 Telephone: 601-576-4200

Counsel for Jeffrey Jackson

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JEFFREY JACKSON

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2007-KA-1782-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES
STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION
STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
FACTS2
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT4
ARGUMENT4
ISSUE ONE: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S BATSON CHALLENGE REGARDING THE STATE'S UNCONSTITUTIONAL STRIKING OF AFRICAN-AMERICAN MEMBERS OF THE VENIRE AND FAILURE TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE RACE-NEUTRAL JUSTIFICATION.
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 20

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

Batson v. Kentucky ,476 U.S. 79, 88 (1986)
Berry v. State, 802 So. 2d 1033, 1037-38 (Miss. 2001)
Chisolm v. State, 529 So. 2d 635, 637 (Miss.1988)
Conerly v. State, 544 So. 2d 1370, 1372 (Miss.1989)
Flowers v. State, 947 So. 2d 910, 917 (Miss. 2007)
Johnson v. State, 792 So. 2d 253, 256-57 (Miss. 2001)
Mack v. State, 650 So. 2d 1289, 1298 (Miss. 1994)
Manning v. State, 765 So. 2d 516, 519 (Miss. 2000)
McFarland v. State, 707 So. 2d 166, 171 (Miss. 1997)
McGee v. State, 953 So. 2d 211, 214 (Miss. 2007)
Miller-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322, 339 (2003)
Miller-El v. Dretke, 125 S. Ct. 2317, 2332 (2005)
Perry v. State, 949 So. 2d 764, 767 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)
Puckett v. State, 737 So. 2d 322 (Miss.1999)
Sewell v. State, 721 So. 2d 129, 136 (Miss. 1998)
Walker v. State, 740 So. 2d 873, 880 (Miss. 1999)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution
Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101 (Supp. 2004)

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JEFFREY JACKSON		APPELLANT
v.		NO. 2007-KA-1782-COA
STATE OF MISSISSIPPI		APPELLEE
	BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT	

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S BATSON CHALLENGE REGARDING THE STATE'S UNCONSTITUTIONAL STRIKING OF AFRICAN-AMERICAN VENIREPERSONS AND FAILURE TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE RACE-NEUTRAL JUSTIFICATION.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Jeffrey Jackson, the Appellant in this case, is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101 (Supp. 2004).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for armed robbery against Jeffrey Jackson a/k/a Jeffery Jackson following a jury trial on May 8-9, 2006, Honorable W. Swan Yerger, Circuit Judge, presiding. Mr. Jackson was subsequently sentenced to twenty-five (25) years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

According to testimony at trial, on the morning of March 14, 2005, police were called to Hal and Mal's restaurant on Commerce Street in Jackson, Mississippi. (T. 145). Upon arriving at the restaurant, police spoke with Hal White (hereinafter referred to as "Mr. White"), co-owner of the restaurant. (T. 145). Mr. White advised them that a black male had just robbed his business. (T. 145).

Mr. White testified that around 8:30 that morning, an individual entered the premises, asked for an employment application, and, upon receiving one, pulled out a gun and demanded money. (T. 233). Mr. White opened the safe, and emptied its contents into a garbage bag held by the subject. (T. 233). Upon receiving this money, the subject ordered Mr. White and Zeta Piggot (hereinafter referred to as "Ms. Piggot", an employee of the restaurant, to lie on the ground. (T. 234). Mr. White acquiesced, but claimed that Ms. Piggot was too old to be lying down on the floor. (T. 234). The subject allowed Ms. Piggot to be seated at a chair and left the scene. (T. 234). Mr. White waited for a short time and notified the police of the robbery when he felt it was safe. (T. 234).

Two employees of the Mississippi Archives and History Department, located nearby, reported seeing an individual matching the description of the subject in the parking lot before the incident. (T. 203, T. 211-13). The two employees further testified that after the incident, they observed the same subject running down the hill towards his vehicle and driving off abruptly. (T. 207-08, T. 241).

When police arrived, the spoke with Mr. White and attempted to gather evidence. (T. 156). No suspect was determined at that time. Months later, Mr. White, upon reading the Clarion Ledger Newspaper, identified a man pictured in the paper, Jeffrey Jackson (hereinafter referred to as "Mr. Jackson"), as the individual who robbed him. (T. 239). Police investigated, presented a photographic lineup to Mr. White and Ms. Piggot and both were able to pick out Mr. Jackson. (T. 224, T. 240). Mr. Jackson was subsequently arrested and charged with armed robbery. (T. 166).

During jury selection, the State used its first eight peremptory challenges to strike eight African-American members of the venire.¹ (T. 99). The defense objected, making a *Batson* challenge, asking the State to provide race-neutral reasons for striking the members of the venire. (T. 99). The State provided its reasons, and upon hearing the State's reasoning, the trial court expounded on the explanation and denied the defendant's objection. (T. 111-14). Eventually, a jury was empaneled and the action proceeded to trial.

After deliberation by the jury, Mr. Jackson was subsequently convicted of armed robbery. The trial court then handed down a sentence of twenty-five (25) years in the custody

¹. There will be a more lengthy analysis of the *Batson* procedure *infra*.

of the department of corrections (C.P. 39, RE. 14). On May 23, 2006, the defendant filed a Motion for New Trial and J.N.O.V., claiming that the verdict was contrary to law, contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the trial court erred in admitting into evidence a suggestive photo lineup into evidence without authenticating a proper chain of custody, and that the trial court erred in overruling defense's *Batson* challenges. (C.P. 40-41, RE 21-23). Feeling aggrieved by the verdict of the jury and the sentence of the trial court, the Appellant filed a notice of appeal. (C.P. 58, RE 20).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

During jury selection, the State used its first eight peremptory challenges to strike eight African-American members of the venire. After a *Batson* challenge by defense counsel, the State proffered its race-neutral reasons for striking the eight jurors. Upon hearing the State's reasoning, the trial court expounded on the explanation and denied defense counsel's objection under *Batson*. The trial court erred in denying defense counsel's *Batson* challenges with respect to four (4) jurors: Claudia Moncure, Melinda Dixon, Florese Wilson, and Denise Brown.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE: WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S BATSON CHALLENGE REGARDING THE STATE'S UNCONSTITUTIONAL STRIKING OF AFRICAN-AMERICAN MEMBERS OF THE VENIRE AND FAILURE TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE RACE-NEUTRAL JUSTIFICATION.

The Fourteenth Amendment of United States Constitution provides in pertinent part that "No State... [shall] deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws." U.S. Const. amend. XIV § 1.

In *Batson v. Kentucky*, the United States Supreme Court ruled that the Equal Protection Clause "prohibits all forms of purposeful racial discrimination in selection of jurors." *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 88 (1986). This prohibition is more than a simple protection of constitutional rights. Rather, the *Batson* court saw the "exclusion of black citizens from service as jurors [constituting] a primary example of the evil the Fourteenth Amendment was designed to cure." *Id.*

In order to make a claim under *Batson*, the defendant must make a *prima facie* showing sufficient to raise an inference that the peremptory strikes used by the State were exercised to exclude jurors on the basis of race. *McFarland v. State*, 707 So. 2d 166, 171 (Miss. 1997)(citing *Batson*, 476 U.S. at 96-97).

After the defendant has made a *prima facie* showing, the burden then shifts to the State to provide a race-neutral explanation for its challenges. *Id.* After the prosecutor has provided its reasons, defense counsel is given the opportunity to rebut the reasons provided by the State. Finally, the trial court must make a factual finding to determine whether the prosecution engaged in purposeful discrimination. *See Berry v. State*, 802 So. 2d 1033, 1037-38 (Miss. 2001).

"[The Mississippi Supreme Court] has recognized five indicia of pretext that are relevant when analyzing the race-neutral reasons offered by the proponent of a peremptory strike, specifically(1) disparate treatment, that is, the presence of unchallenged jurors of the opposite race who share the characteristic given

as the basis for the challenge; (2) the failure to voir dire as to the characteristic cited; ... (3) the characteristic cited is unrelated to the facts of the case; (4) lack of record support for the stated reason; and (5) group-based traits." Flowers v. State, 947 So. 2d 910, 917 (Miss. 2007)(citations omitted.)

The trial court must make this determination in light of all relevant circumstances, essentially assessing whether the prosecutor's proffered reasons were credible under the circumstances. *Miller-El v. Cockrell*, 537 U.S. 322, 339 (2003). Credibility can be measured by, among other factors, the prosecutor's demeanor; by how reasonable, or how improbable, the explanations are" *Id.*

In Miller-El v. Dretke, the United States Supreme Court recently emphasized,

"[A prosecutor must] stand or fall on the reasons <u>he</u> gives. . . . If the stated reason does not hold up, its pretextual significance does not fade because a trial judge, or an appeals court, can imagine a reason that might not have been shown up as false." *Miller-El v. Dretke*, 125 S. Ct. 2317, 2332 (2005) (emphasis added).

I. Standard of Review

"[A] trial court's determination of whether a showing of racial discrimination has been made will not be reversed unless it is 'clearly, erroneous, or against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." *Johnson v. State*, 792 So. 2d 253, 256-57 (Miss. 2001)(citing *Stewart v. State*, 662 So. 2d 552, 558 (Miss.1995)). The Court "will not overrule a trial court on a *Batson* ruling unless the record indicates that the ruling was clearly erroneous or against the overwhelming weight of the evidence." *Manning v. State*, 765 So. 2d 516, 519 (Miss. 2000)(citing *Thorson v. State*, 721 So. 2d 590, 593 (Miss.1998)).

ii. There was a prima facie showing sufficient to raise an inference that the State used its peremptory challenges to exclude jurors on the basis of race.

It is ambiguous as to the record of whether the trial court made a ruling as to whether there was a *prima facie* case established by defense counsel. The trial court concluded that it was "borderline" and "marginal" despite the Hinds County District Attorney's office using all of its first eight challenges against African-Americans. (T. 100-01). After that conclusion, the State proceeded to give its race neutral justifications for its challenges.

"However, where the trial court does not explicitly rule on whether the defendant established a prima facie case under *Batson* but nevertheless requires the [opposing party] to provide race-neutral reasons for its challenges and the [opposing party] provides reasons for its challenges the issue of whether the [challenging party] established a prima facie case is moot." *Perry v. State*, 949 So. 2d 764, 767 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006)(citations omitted).

Because, however, the strength of the *prima facie* case is relevant to the overall assessment of a *Batson* challenge, an in-depth analysis of the *prima facie* case in this appeal before this Honorable Court is necessary.

In order to establish a prima facie case of discrimination in the exercise of peremptory challenges, a party must demonstrate:

"(1) that he is a member of a cognizable racial group; (2) that the prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges to remove from the venire members of the defendant's race; (3) and that the facts and circumstances raised an inference that the prosecutor used his peremptory challenges for the purpose

of striking minorities." Walker v. State, 740 So. 2d 873, 880 (Miss. 1999)(quoting Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 80(1986)).²

In the case at bar, the fact "[t]hat the prosecutor accepted other black persons as jurors is no defense to a *Batson* claim." *Chisolm v. State*, 529 So. 2d 635, 637 (Miss.1988)(quoting *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79, 94-96, ns. 18 & 19 (1986)). *See also Conerly v. State*, 544 So. 2d 1370, 1372 (Miss.1989). Indeed, "A single invidiously discriminatory governmental act' is not 'immunized by the absence of such discrimination in the making of other comparable decisions." *Id.*; *See also McGee v. State*, 953 So. 2d 211, 214 (Miss. 2007).

In *McGee*, Justice Dickinson, in a specially concurring opinion, stated that "the United States Supreme Court made it crystal clear that to prevail on a '*Batson* challenge,' a defendant is not required to demonstrate a pattern or multiple instances of discrimination." *McGee*, 953 So. 2d at 217-18 (Dickinson, J., specially concurring). "[T]his Court has recognized that a defendant may make a prima facie showing of purposeful racial discrimination in selection of the venire by relying solely on the facts concerning its selection in his case." *Id*.

The fact that there are African-Americans on the jury panel tendered to the defense does not relieve the State from the *Batson* issue because *Batson* "is concerned exclusively with discriminatory intent on the part of the lawyer against

² This test is somewhat outdated in that it has been held that the party opposing the use of the peremptory challenge is no longer required to show that he or she is a member of a cognizable racial group or that the juror and the party share the same race. *Puckett v. State*, 737 So. 2d 322 (Miss.1999). However, the courts continue to quote these requirements to establish a prima facie case of discrimination. *See Flowers v. State*, 947 So. 2d at 917.

whose peremptory strikes the objection is interposed." *Johnson v. State*, 792 So. 2d 253, 256-57 (Miss. 2001)(citing *Powers v. Ohio*, 499 U.S. 400, 406 (1991); *See Batson*, 476 U.S. 79, 93-94 (1986)).

In *Walker v. State*, "[T]he prosecutor used seven out of nine peremptory challenges to exclude black persons. The final jury resulted in ten whites and two blacks..." *Walker v. State*, 740 So. 2d 873, 880 (Miss., 1999). The *Walker* Court determined "that an inference of racial discrimination was presented by Walker and that the lower court erred in failing to conduct a *Batson* hearing." *Id*.

Furthermore, the United States Supreme Court has held that the evidence necessary to make a *prima facie* case can come from the pattern of the prosecutor's strikes, as well as from racially patterned differences in the questions posed by the State in voir dire. *Cockrell*, 537 U.S. at 331-33. The strength of the prima facie case of purposeful discrimination will influence the *Batson* inquiry. *Sewell v. State*, 721 So. 2d 129, 136 (Miss. 1998); *See also Mack v. State*, 650 So. 2d 1289, 1298 (Miss. 1994).

Of the state's eight initial peremptory challenges, all were used against African-American members of the venire. (T. 100).³ Based on federal and Mississippi

^{3.} There is nothing in the record to indicate whether the State used its remaining peremptory challenges to strike African-Americans from the jury. It is still plausible, given the first eight strikes by the Hinds County District Attorney's office and the final make up of the jury, that S-9 and S-10 were used against African-Americans. Regardless, the use of all of the State's first eight strikes against African-American members of the venire is sufficient to establish a prima facie case of discrimination in the use of peremptory challenges on the part of the State.

case law, this fact plainly rises to the level of establishing a *prima facie* case of discriminatory strikes on the part of the State.

iii. The trial court erred in allowing the State to strike Claudia Moncure from the jury on the basis of her educational level.

The State exercised its first peremptory challenge on Claudia Moncure (hereinafter referred to as "Ms. Moncure"), an African-American female, giving her twelfth grade education as the race-neutral justification for the strike. (T. 101). When assessing whether the strike of Ms. Moncure was prejudicial, the trial court stated, "Standing alone the 12th grade education of Ms. Moncure as the reason does raise a question for the Court."(T. 111). However, the trial judge later concluded,

"Taken into context with all of these others, which in the opinion of the Court are race neutral, and the advice of the State's attorney that many of them — of the other jurors are educated, certainly the State would like as much education as possible. So for all of these reasons the Court denies the objections of being racially prejudicial in view of the reasons given by the state." (T. 113-14)

In Flowers, the Mississippi Supreme Court concluded,

"Though a reason proffered by the State is facially neutral, trial judges should not blindly accept any and every reason put forth by the State, especially where, as here, the State continues to exercise challenge after challenge upon members of a particular race." *Flowers*, 947 So. 2d at 937.

In the case at bar, prosecutors used all of their first eight peremptory challenges to strike African-Members of the venire.

That fact, coupled with the reasoning from *Flowers*, should be used to assess the race-neutrality of all the strikes, even the ones given less credence by the trial court in its balancing of the relative merits of the race-neutral reasons proffered by the state.

Taking into consideration the strength of the *prima facie* case of discrimination on the part of the State when using its peremptory challenges, the reasons proffered by the State for striking Ms. Moncure stand on questionable grounds. The State's tenuous argument regarding Ms. Moncure's education level is significantly weakened by the its continual striking of African-American jurors from the venire.

One of the indicia of pretext is when a characteristic cited in a peremptory challenge has no relation to the facts of the case. *Manning*, 765 So. 2d at 519. Allowing the State to use educational level as a blanket race-neutral reason for striking individuals is incompatible with the type of case that was being tried. There was no scientific evidence. There were no complex legal theories. There was no thorny expert testimony. This was simply a case involving eyewitness testimony.

Furthermore, a twelfth grade education involves and least some meritorious scholasticism. Ms Moncure was ably qualified to serve on this particular jury for this particular case.

Appellant concedes that there will be instances when an educated jury would be necessary to understand some facets of the State's case, but in such an instance as this, no such necessity exists. This merely intensifies substantiations that the Hinds County District Attorney's office was striking African-American members of the venire without proper raceneutral justifications.

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