IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JEFFREY JACKSON a/k/a JEFFERY JACKSON

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-1782-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MAR 12 7 2008 OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT THE TRIAL JUDGE FOUND AS A FACT AND CONCLUDED AS A MATTER OF LAW THE PROSECUTOR GAVE VIABLE RACE-NEUTRAL REASONS FOR STRIKING PEREMPTORILY FOUR (4) AFRICAN AMERICAN FEMALES.
THE FACT-FINDING BY THE CIRCUIT JUDGE WAS NEITHER CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, MANIFESTLY WRONG, NOR AGAINST THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE. NO ABUSE OF JUDICIAL DISCRETION HAS BEEN DEMONSTRATED.
CONCLUSION22
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69, 87-88 (1986)
Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S. 352, 367-68, 111 S.Ct. 1859, 114 L.Ed.2d 395 (1991)
Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400, 111 S.Ct. 1364, 113 L.Ed.2d 411 (1991)
Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765, 768, 115 S.Ct. 1769, 1771, 131 L.Ed.2d 834 (1995)
United States v. Bentley-Smith, 2 F.3d 1368 (5th Cir. 1993)
United States v. Webster, 162 F.3d 308, 349 (5th Cir. 1999)
United States v. Williams, 264 F.3d 561 (5th Cir. 2001)
STATE CASES
Avant v. State, 896 So.2d 379 (Ct.App.Miss. 2005)
Baldwin v. State, 784 So.2d 148, 149 (Miss. 2001)
Benson v. State, 551 So.2d 188 (Miss. 1989)
Bounds v. State, 688 So.2d 1362 (Miss. 1997)
Burnett v. Fulton, 854 So.2d 1010 (Miss. 2003)
Caston v. State, 823 So.2d 473 (Miss. 2002)
Collins v. State, 691 So.2d 918, 926 (Miss. 1997)
Conerly v. State, 544 So.2d 1370 (Miss. 1989)
Davis v. State, 660 So.2d 1228, 1242 (Miss. 1995)
Duplantis v. State, 644 So.2d 1235 (Miss. 1994)
Edwards v. State, 823 So.2d 1223 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002)
Fleming v. State, 732 So.2d 172 (Miss. 1999)

Gibson v. State, 731 So.2d 1087, 1096 (Miss. 1998)
Golden v. State, No. 2005-KA-00111-COA decided February 5, 2008 [Not Yet Reported]
Griffin v. State, 607 So.2d 1197, 1203 (Miss. 1992)
Harris v. State, 901 So.2d 1277, 1281-82 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004)
Hatten v. State, 628 So.2d 294 (Miss. 1993)
Hughes v. State, 735 So.2d 238, 250 (Miss. 1999)
Jackson v. State, 684 So.2d 1213 (Miss. 1996)
Jackson v. State, 962 So.2d 649 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007)
Johnson v. State, 792 So.2d 253, 256-57 (Miss. 2001)
Lockett v. State, 517 So.2d 1346, 1356 (Miss. 1987)
Lynch v. State, 877 So.2d 1254 (Miss. 2004)
Mack v. State, 650 So.2d 1289, 1297 (Miss. 1994)
Magee v. State, 720 So.2d 186 (Miss. 1998)
Manning v. State, 765 So.2d 516, 519 (Miss. 2000)
Puckett v. State, 737 So.2d 322 (Miss. 1999)
Puckett v. State, 788 So.2d 752, 758 (2001)
Randall v. State, 716 So.2d 584, 588 (Miss. 1998)
Randolph v. State, 852 So.2d 547, 561 (Miss. 2002)
Robinson v. State, 726 So.2d 189 (Ct.App. Miss. 1998)
Snow v. State, 800 So.2d 472, 481 (Miss. 2000)
Tanner v. State, 764 So.2d 385, 393 (Miss. 2000)
Taylor v. State, 524 So.2d 565 (Miss. 1988)

Taylor v. State, 733 So.2d 251, 258 (Miss. 1999)
Thomas v. State, 818 So.2d 335 (Miss. 2002)
Thorson v. State, 721 So.2d 590, 593 (Miss. 1998)
Tyler v. State, 911 So.2d 550, 553 (Ct.App.Miss. 2005)
Walker v. State, 740 So.2d 873 (Miss. 1999)
Walker v. State, 815 So.2d 1209 (Miss. 2002)
Wheeler v. State, 536 So.2d 1347 (Miss. 1988)

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JEFFREY JACKSON a/k/a JEFFERY JACKSON

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-KA-1782-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The prosecutor's use of peremptory strikes against four (4) African American females, allegedly in violation of the so-called *Batson* rule, forms the centerpiece of this out-of-time appeal from a conviction of armed robbery.

We respectfully submit that findings by the circuit judge the prosecutor gave sufficient raceneutral reasons for challenging the four (4) women and, in so doing, the State did not exercise purposeful discrimination, was neither clearly erroneous, manifestly wrong nor against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

The Batson issue is controlled by rules of law articulated in Golden v. State, No. 2005-KA-

1

00111-COA decided February 5, 2008 [Not Yet Reported]; Harris v. State, 901 So.2d 1277, 1281-82 (Ct.App.Miss. 2004), and Avant v. State, 896 So.2d 379 (Ct.App.Miss. 2005) citing Lynch v. State, 877 So.2d 1254 (¶46) (Miss. 2004).

JEFFREY JACKSON, a non-testifying 33-year-old African American male, prosecutes a criminal appeal from the Circuit Court of Hinds County, W. Swan Yerger, Circuit Judge, presiding.

Jackson, following an indictment returned on June 17, 2005 (C.P. at 4), was convicted of robbing Hal & Mal's Restaurant by taking, at gunpoint, approximately \$4000 from the presence of Hal White. (C.P. at 4)

Jackson seeks a reversal of his conviction and a remand of his case for a new trial. (Brief of the Appellant at 30)

The defendant's indictment, omitting its formal parts, alleged

"...[t]hat Jeffrey Jackson a/k/a Jeffery Jackson ... on or about the 14th day of March, 2005[,] did wilfully, unlawfully and feloniously take or attempt to take the property of White Brothers, Inc., a Mississippi Corporation, D/B/A Hal & Mal's Restaurant, in the presence of Hal White, and from said persons and against said person's will by violence to his person, by putting Hal White in fear of immediate injury to his person by exhibition of a deadly weapon, to-wit: a handgun, said property being approximately \$4,000.00 of good and lawful money of the United Sates of America ..." (C.P. at 4)

Following a two (2) day trial by jury conducted on May 8-9, 2008, the jury returned a written verdict of, "We[,] the jury, find the Defendant guilty as charged." (C.P. at 37)

Immediately post-verdict (R. 247), Judge Yerger entered an order sentencing Jackson to serve a term of twenty-five (25) years in the custody of the MDOC. (R. 294; C.P. at 38)

Only one issue is raised on appeal to this Court: "Whether the trial court erred in denying defense counsel's *Batson* challenge regarding the State's unconstitutional striking of African-

American members of the venire and failure to provide adequate race-neutral justification." (Brief of the Appellant at ii, 1, 4)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant has articulated a fair and accurate summary of the prominent facts. Accordingly, there is no compelling need to plow that ground again in any detail here.

It is enough to say that during the morning hours of March 14, 2005, at approximately 9:00 or 9:15 a.m., Jackson police were summoned to Hal and Mal's restaurant on Commerce Street where they learned from Hal White, co-owner, a black male had just robbed him at gunpoint and absconded with money removed from the office safe. (R. 233-34)

Some time later White saw Johnson's picture in the Crimestopper's section of the Clarion Leger and notified the police after identifying him as the robber.

Q, [BY PROSECUTOR:] You saw his picture in the paper and what happened after that? What did that cause you to do if anything?

A. [BY WHITE:] I called the detective and told him, I said, you know, I found the picture of the guy that robbed me.

Q. Okay. And later that day did he bring you a line-up?

A. Yes, he did. (R. 239)

Seven (7) witnesses testified for the State during its case-in-chief, including the victim, Hal White, who made both an out-of-court photographic lineup identification and an in-court identification of Jackson as the robber. (R. 240-41, 242-43)

Zeta Pigott, cashier and bookkeeper at Hal and Mals, was present that morning and was both an ear and eyewitness to the robbery. She, likewise, made a positive photographic lineup identification as well as an in-court identification of Johnson as the robber. (R. 223-25)

Relevant portions of White's identification testimony are quoted as follows:

Q. [BY PROSECUTOR:] Mr. White, do you see the man in the courtroom today who robbed you on March 14th, 2005?

- A. [BY WHITE:] Yes, sir, I do.
- Q. Would you point him out and describe what he's wearing, sir.
 - A. The gentleman at the table, has on a blue shirt and blue tie.

BY MR. MILES: Your Honor, I'd ask that the record reflect that the witness has identified the defendant as the man who robbed him on March 14th, 2005.

BY THE COURT: The record may so reflect.

Q. Are you absolutely sure, sir?

A. Absolutely. (R. 242-43)

At the close of the State's case-in-chief, the defendant's motion for a directed verdict of acquittal based upon the failure of the State to make out a *prima facie* case was overruled by Judge Yerger who stated, *inter alia*, the following: "It's the opinion of the Court based upon the evidence before the Court and applicable law that a *prima facie* case of armed robbery against this defendant has been proved by the State [and] the motion for directed verdict is denied." (R. 248)

After being fully advised of his right to testify or not, Jackson personally elected to remain silent and did not testify in his own defense. (R. 249-50)

Jackson's defense was essentially one of mistaken identification. (R. 88, 278-83)

Following closing arguments, the jury retired to deliberate at 3:41 p.m. (R. 291)

The jury subsequently returned with the following verdict: "We, the jury, find the defendant guilty as charged." (R. 293)

A poll of the jury reflected the verdict was unanimous. (R. 293)

Sentencing was meted out immediately, twenty-five (25) years in the custody of the MDOC. (R. 294-95)

On May 23, 2006, Jackson filed his "Motion For Judgment Notwithstanding a Verdict, or in the alternative, Motion for a New Trial." (C. P. at 40-42)

In an order signed March 28, 2007, the motion for a new trial, et cetera, was overruled. (C.P. at 43)

On August 21, 2007, Jackson's motion for an out-of-time appeal was granted by Judge Yerger. (C.P. at 56)

Robert Shuler Smith, formerly a practicing attorney in Jackson and presently the District Attorney for Hinds County, represented Jackson very effectively during the trial of this cause.

Justin T. Cook, an attorney with the Mississippi Office of Indigent Appeals, has been substituted on appeal. His representation has been equally effective.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Claudia Moncure was struck from the venire because of her 12th grade educational level.
(R. 101)

Denise Brown was struck because of inattentiveness and hair dyed red. (R. 101-02)

Florese Wilson was struck because she was a teacher at a school maintained by a religious body. (R. 102)

Melinda Dixon was struck because of her 12th grade educational level and the fact she had voted not guilty in a criminal trial. (R. 70-71, 103)

Judge Yerger, on the record, found as a fact and concluded as a matter of law the prosecution had given race-neutral reasons for striking peremptorily the four (4) female African American

veniremen.

He found as a fact and concluded as a matter of law the reasons expressed by the prosecution were race-neutral and that Jackson had failed to sustain his burden of showing the race-neutral explanations given by the prosecution were merely a pretext for racial discrimination. (R. 112, 113-14, 122)

Put another way, the circuit judge found as a fact and concluded as a matter of law the prosecution was not guilty of purposeful discrimination.

These findings made by the circuit judge were neither clearly erroneous, manifestly wrong, nor against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Avant v. State, supra, 896 So.2d 379 (¶5) (Ct.App.Miss. 2005); Johnson v. State, 792 So.2d 253, 256-57 (Miss. 2001); Manning v. State, 765 So.2d 516, 519 (Miss. 2000). Rather, they were supported by substantial and credible evidence and are entitled to great deference by a reviewing court. Caston v. State, 823 So.2d 473 (Miss. 2002); Thomas v. State, 818 So.2d 335 (Miss. 2002), reh denied; Avant v. State, supra.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL JUDGE FOUND AS A FACT AND CONCLUDED AS A MATTER OF LAW THE PROSECUTOR GAVE VIABLE RACE-NEUTRAL REASONS FOR STRIKING PEREMPTORILY FOUR (4) AFRICAN AMERICAN FEMALES.

THE FACT-FINDING BY THE CIRCUIT JUDGE WAS NEITHER CLEARLY ERRONEOUS, MANIFESTLY WRONG, NOR AGAINST THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE. NO ABUSE OF JUDICIAL DISCRETION HAS BEEN DEMONSTRATED.

First, some fast facts gleaned straight from the record.

The defendant is a member of the black race.

At least eight (8) of the twelve (12) peremptory strikes allotted to the State were exercised

against African Americans. (R. 99-100) Four (4) of the eight (8) challenges were used to strike four (4) African American females. (R. 98-99, 101-04)

A breakdown by race of the first twenty-three (23) veniremen from which the jury was selected reflects that fifteen (15) were black and eight (8) were white. (R. 99-100)

Of the twelve (12) veniremen accepted by the State and tendered to the defense, five (5) of the twelve (12) - 42% - were black. (R. 100, 117)

Sherry Ann Garner and Mary G. Anderson, both black females, were accepted by the State. (R. 102) Also accepted were John Alford, a black male and Belinda Williams, a black female. (R. 103)

The racial composition of the jury selected to try this case was "... five (5) whites and seven (7) blacks." (R. 124)

The race of the two alternate jurors is not reflected by the record. (R. 125)

r=:

The State's S-1 challenge was used to strike Claudia Moncure; S-2 was exercised against Denise Brown, S-3 against Florese Wilson, and S-6 reached Melinda Dixon. (R. 98-99)

Defense counsel invited the State to proffer its reasons for striking all black jurors (R. 99) and suggested that ".... it just raises a *prima facie* issue." (R. 100)

Judge Yerger found that a *prima facie* case of purposeful discrimination was "borderline" and "marginal." Nevertheless, he required the State to give its race-neutral reasons for striking the eight (8) jurors.

Our only concern here, of course, is with the strikes made against Moncure (S-1), Brown (S-2), Wilson (S-3), and Dixon (S-6). Jackson does not complain about gender discrimination. Rather, the target of his appellate complaint is purposeful discrimination based upon race. He argues "[t]he trial court erred in denying defense counsel's *Batson* challenges with respect to four (4)

[female] jurors: Claudia Moncure, Melinda Dixon, Florese Wilson, and Denise Brown." (Brief of the Appellant at 4)

Jackson contends, and vigorously so, the reasons given by the prosecution were merely a pretext for wanting to purposely discriminate against and eliminate African Americans from the jury box. He claims the trial judge committed reversible error when he accepted as race-neutral the reasons proffered by the State for excluding the four (4) black females. (Brief of the Appellant at 4)

We respectfully argue at the outset that a final jury composed of five (5) whites and seven

(7) blacks is hardly indicative of purposeful discrimination in jury selection and detracts from any suggestion there existed a racially discriminatory motive underlying the State's articulated reasons.

Obviously, the racial composition of the jury selected to try the defendant's case is a legitimate part of the "facts and other relevant circumstances" requiring scrutiny by **Batson**. See **Batson**, 90 L.Ed.2d 69, 87-88.

In ruling upon the credibility and ultimate validity of the race-neutral reasons given by the prosecutor, Judge Yerger, in each instance, articulated specific findings which must be given great deference by a reviewing court.

As an initial matter, we invite the Court's attention to the fairly recent case of **Avant v. State**, supra, 896 So.2d 379 (¶5) (Ct.App.Miss. 2005), where we find the following language:

We are limited in our review of the trial court's decision accepting as race-neutral the explanations given by the State for striking particular veniremen in the face of a *Batson* challenge.

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